BEFORE THE WEST VIRGINIA SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS

No. 24-412

SCA EFiled: Nov 15 2024
05:53PM EST
Transaction ID 75021154

HD MEDIA COMPANY, LLC d/b/a CHARLESTON GAZETTE-MAIL,

Petitioner, Appellant below,

v.

**WEST VIRGINIA UNIVERSITY
BOARD OF GOVERNORS,**

Respondent, Appellee below.

PETITIONER'S APPEAL BRIEF

APPEAL FROM THE WEST VIRGINIA INTERMEDIATE COURT OF APPEALS

Lonnie C. Simmons (W.Va. I.D. No. 3406)
Robert M. Bastress, III (W.Va. I.D. No. 9616)
DIPIERO SIMMONS MCGINLEY & BASTRESS, PLLC
P.O. Box 1631
Charleston, West Virginia 25326
(304) 342-0133
lonnie.simmons@dbdlawfirm.com

Counsel for Petitioner HD Media Company, LLC d/b/a Charleston Gazette-Mail

I. Introduction

To the Honorable Justices of the

West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals:

The West Virginia Open Governmental Proceedings Act (WVOGPA) explicitly mandates that "except as expressly and specifically otherwise provided by law, whether heretofore or hereinafter enacted, and except as provided in section four of this article, **all meetings of any governing body shall be open to the public.**" (Emphasis added). W.Va.Code §6-9A-3(a). The law itself provides for "only a few[12] clearly defined exceptions." W.Va.Code §6-9A-1.

Beginning in the Summer of 2020, Respondent West Virginia University Board of Governors held months of regular meetings during which the great majority of the time was spent in secret

executive sessions from which members of the public, including journalists employed by Petitioner HD Media Company, LLC d/b/a Charleston Gazette-Mail, were barred. Both the trial court and the West Virginia Intermediate Court of Appeals (WVICA) found one of the public notices of the meetings to be inadequate and a violation of the WVOGPA. However, the trial court dismissed this notice violation as being merely “technical.” (JA at 623). The WVICA had a different view, stating in *HD Media Company, LLC d/b/a Charleston Gazette-Mail v. West Virginia University Board of Governors*, 2024 WL 3007228 at *12 (No. 23-ICA-248, 6/14/2024) that:

"We do not endorse the circuit court’s characterization of a defective notice as merely “technical.” Our position is clear: “[t]he fundamental purpose of the open meeting law is to ensure the right of the public to be fully informed regarding the conduct of governmental business.” *McComas v. Bd. of Educ. of Fayette Cnty.*, 197 W. Va. 188, 197, 475 S.E.2d 280, 289 (1996) (quoting *State ex rel. Badke v. Village Board*, 173 Wis.2d 553, 494 N.W.2d 408, 414 (1993)). Governing bodies must endeavor to strictly abide by the technical requirements of WVOGPA, including notice. (JA at 769).

Notwithstanding the WVICA's view that government bodies "must strictly abide" by the law's notice requirement, it "did not find reversible error in the court’s application of the law." *Id.*

Having provided inadequate notice to the public regarding what would be discussed by Respondent at one of its meetings, Respondent proceeded to discuss in executive session issues of great interest, not only to the WVU community, but to people throughout the State and region. These secret meetings involved discussions of WVU’s budget, capital improvements, student tuition and fees, the business college, emergency employee pay policy, responses to COVID-19, changing Title IX regulations, and matters related to a petition signed by more than 800 mostly Black

students, faculty, staff and alumni of WVU of alleging racial discrimination at WVU.¹ Respondent also held executive session discussions involving the expectations and outlook concerning the then upcoming Mountaineer football season.

These specific topics, most of which were never listed in any of Respondent's Meeting Agendas, were discussed secretly in executive session by Respondent in violation of the WVOGPA and are at issue in this litigation. The WVOGPA requires all West Virginia governing bodies, including Respondent, to provide prior notice of their official meetings with a list of the issues to be addressed and to hold the meetings in public so that any interested person can witness and participate in the process of how decisions are made. W.Va.Code §6-9A-3(d). During the open deliberations, the public observes the governing body present facts, ask questions, and discuss the issues. In a normal meeting under the WVOGPA, members of the public often are invited to provide comments for a governing body to consider as it deliberates. By showing "how the sausage is made," the public gains a greater appreciation and understanding of the rationale behind the decisions subsequently agreed upon.

Because Respondent routinely failed to hold open meetings on the foregoing issues of public interest, thus barring the public and Petitioner's reporters, Petitioner filed a civil action against Respondent in the Circuit Court of Monongalia County seeking injunctive and declaratory relief,

¹See Ryan Quinn, *800-plus people call WVU systematically anti-black; school forming groups to suggest improvements*, CHARLESTON GAZETTE-MAIL (June 19, 2020) https://www.wvgazettemail.com/news/education/800-plus-people-call-wvu-systemically-anti-black-school-forming-groups-to-suggest-improvements/article_399f79b5-8227-5207-ac0a-2cde6a3413e7.html. Congress and the Legislature regularly discuss and have discussed the impact of COVID-19, race relations, budgets, and capital improvements in public because as representatives of the people, these legislative bodies recognize the absolute right the public has to observe all of their deliberations and discussions of issues, subject only to very narrowly defined exceptions.

which are extraordinary remedies available under the WVOGPA. After developing the record, Petitioner and Respondent briefed the legal issues raised and filed cross motions for summary judgment.

In two separate orders, the Honorable Judge Cindy Scott granted summary judgment for Respondent, effectively approving Respondent's actions to discuss the identified issues in executive session. Petitioner respectfully submits these orders are unprecedented, unsupported by any case law, contrary to the decisions of this Court, and inconsistent with the WVOGPA's language.

As discussed in more detail below, Petitioner made multiple efforts to appeal to this Court these final orders denying extraordinary relief, but those efforts were rejected by this Court. Petitioner then was forced to file this appeal with the WVICA, which had no appellate jurisdiction. Regardless, the WVICA assumed jurisdiction when it had none and issued its final decision affirming the trial court's orders on June 14, 2024.

In *HD Media*, the WVICA addresses some of the most consequential issues ever raised in the application of the WVOGPA. (JA at 758). However, in its decision, the WVICA gutted the laudable goals mandated by the Legislature in WVOGPA of permitting the public to witness and participate in the decision-making process of all governing bodies. Although he concurred in most of the decision, Chief Judge Thomas E. Scarr dissented to the WVICA's holding regarding the "commercial competition" exception, which he explains "**would consume, swallow, and vitiate the open meeting rule and undermine the WVOGPA's stated purpose.**" (Emphasis added). *HD Media*, 2024 WL 3007228 at *22. (JA at 775).

This case involves important issues of first impression concerning the rights of West Virginians to attend meetings of public bodies. The rights of public access and transparency were

established by the West Virginia Legislature in 1975, W.Va.Code, §6-9A-1, Acts 1975, c. 177; Acts 1999, c. 208, eff. 90 days after March 21, 1999. The legislative purposes underlying the WVOGPA are set forth in W.Va.Code, §6-9A-1. That section supplies "the Legislature's reasoning for concluding it is in the best interest of the public that the various public entities of this State conduct their respective proceedings in public." *McComas v. Board of Educ. of Fayette County*, 197 W.Va. 197-98, 475 S.E.2d 280, 289-90 (1996).

At bottom, this case involves several easily resolved issues that were, as explained below, erroneously addressed by the trial court and the WVICA majority leading to reversible error in each instance. This appeal provides the Court a perfect opportunity to provide clear guidance to bench, bar, and the public regarding important provisions of the WVOGPA that have never been subject to judicial interpretation.

If left intact, the WVICA's holdings will create confusion, limit public access to governmental proceedings, undermine the broad legislative goals of law, and negate this Court's prior precedent that "from the legislative statement of policy and its constitutional underpinnings, it is clear **this Court should accord an expansive reading to the Act's provisions to achieve its far-reaching goals.**" (Emphasis added). *McComas*, 197 W.Va. at 197, 475 S.E.2d at 289; *Peters v. County Com'n of Wood County (Peters I)*, 205 W.Va. 481, 519 S.E.2d 179 (1999).

Petitioner timely appealed the WVICA's final order to this Court so that the principles of open government mandated by the Legislature through its adoption of the WVOGPA can be recognized and reaffirmed.

II. Assignments of error

A.

Whether the WVICA erred in affirming the trial court's orders granting Respondent's summary judgment motion and denying Petitioner's cross motion for summary judgment where:

- 1. Both courts' engaged in an overly expansive reading of the limited "commercial competition" exception found in W.Va.Code §6-9A-4(b)(9), which interpretation is inconsistent with existing case law, where the WVOGPA exceptions must be narrowly construed;**
- 2. In an unprecedented decision, both courts incorporated the "internal memorandum" exemption under the West Virginia Freedom of Information Act (WVFOIA) as an exception under the WVOGPA, where no such exception exists, and found any meeting where an "internal memorandum" is discussed required the governing body to go into executive session under the WVOGPA;**
- 3. Both courts approved of the procedure Respondent followed in its attempt to assert the attorney-client privilege to the WVOGPA where Respondent failed to comply with *Peters v. County Commission of Wood County (Peters I)*, 205 W.Va. 481, 519 S.E.2d 179 (1999), and *Peters v. County Commission of Wood County (Peters II)*, 209 W.Va. 94, 543 S.E.2d 651 (2000), requiring *in camera* testimony; and**
- 4. Despite the fact that both courts agreed Respondent violated the pre-meeting notice provision under the WVOGPA, they held no attorneys' fees should be awarded where such fees are justified not only based upon on this critical notice violation, but also upon the foregoing improper attempts to justify executive sessions based upon their expansive and unprecedented**

reading of the narrow exceptions to the WVOGPA discussed herein?

B.

Whether the WVICA had no jurisdiction in this case because Petitioner appealed the denial of a request for extraordinary remedy, *i.e.*, injunctive and declaratory relief, where this Court has exclusive appellate jurisdiction under Rule 1(b)(10)(first paragraph) of the Rules of Appellate Procedure?

III. Statement of the case

A. Undisputed Respondent failed to provide the required notice in one of its agendas and illegally discussed issues of public concern in executive session

Prior to the June 19, 2020 meeting of one of Respondent's committees, the published Meeting Agenda identified the following topics that might be addressed in executive session:

(a) Deliberative matters regarding Fiscal Year 2020 and 2021 budgets, including current year retention and enrollment;

(b) Matters relating to improvements to, or potential contractual relationships regarding facilities, infrastructure, and real property;

(c) Potential strategic initiatives relating to academic health sciences priorities, corporate collaboration, and legislative and regulatory matters; and,

(d) Confidential legal, personnel, and deliberative matters relating to West Virginia University's ongoing response to the COVID-19 pandemic. (JA at 15).²

During this same meeting, Respondent discussed the school's budget, the business college, emergency pay policy, federal Title IX regulations, tuition and fees, capital projects, the coronavirus

²Respondent acknowledged that its Meeting Agendas attached to the original complaint, but which inadvertently were omitted from the Amended Complaint filed a couple of days later, are true and correct copies. (JA at 41).

pandemic, and the athletic director's comments regarding the upcoming football season. (JA at 4-5). This Meeting Agenda does not provide any notice to the public that many of these specific issues would be discussed in executive session. Elmer Coppoolse, a member of Respondent, revealed during the public part of this meeting that while they were in executive session, Respondent discussed the demands and concerns expressed by members of the black community on campus in a petition. (JA at 5). Once again, this issue was not included in the Meeting Agenda.

In the July 24, 2020 Meeting Agenda, Respondent notified the public that one topic to be discussed would be "West Virginia University's ongoing response to the COVID-19 pandemic." In this same Meeting Agenda, Respondent listed WVU's response to the pandemic as an issue that may be discussed in executive session. (JA at 17). How WVU was going to respond to the pandemic also was listed as a possible executive session topic in the Meeting Agendas issued for the meetings held on August 14, 2020, September 4, 2020, and September 18, 2020. (JA at 19-24).

In its Answer to Petitioner's Amended Complaint, Respondent admitted "that it appropriately held portions of its meetings on June 19, 2020, July 24, 2020, August 14, 2020, September 4, 2020, and September 18, 2020 in executive session to discuss, among other things, confidential legal, personnel, and deliberative matters relating to the University's ongoing response to the COVID-19 pandemic and a petition received from the University's Black community." (JA at 41). Respondent further admitted that during this meeting, the following were discussed in executive session: "(1) deliberative matters regarding Fiscal Year 2020 and 2021 budgets, including current year retention and enrollment; (2) matters relating to improvements to, or potential contractual relationship regarding facilities, infrastructure, and real property; (3) potential strategic initiatives relating to academic health sciences priorities, corporate collaboration, and legislative and regulatory matters;

(4) matters related to the petition received from the University's Black community; and (5) confidential legal, personnel, and deliberative matters relating to the University's ongoing response to the COVID-19 pandemic.” (JA at 42). Finally, Respondent admitted the following topics were discussed in the September 18, 2020 meeting: “(1) deliberative matters regarding Fiscal Year 2020 and 2021 budgets, including current year retention and enrollment; (2) matters relating to improvements to, or potential contractual relationship regarding facilities, infrastructure, and real property; (3) potential strategic initiatives relating to academic health sciences priorities, corporate collaboration, and legislative and regulatory matters; and (4) confidential legal, personnel, and deliberative matters relating to the University's ongoing response to the COVID-19 pandemic.” (JA at 43).

The public will never know what other topics may have been discussed in executive session because Respondent does not provide any transcript of these secret meetings to the public. Furthermore, the public will never know what the members of Respondent actually said about these aforementioned topics. The only way the public has any knowledge about some of the topics Respondent discussed under this “cone of silence” is based upon these after-the-fact admissions in its answer to Petitioner’s Amended Complaint.

B. Trial court’s resolution of cross motions for summary judgment

In the first round of cross motions for summary judgment, the trial court orally held at the end of the January 5, 2022 hearing that Respondent had complied with the WVOGPA when it went into executive session to discuss WVU’s ongoing response to the COVID-19 pandemic, matters related to a petition received from WVU’s black community, and WVU’s budgets. The written order from this hearing was not entered by the trial court until more than a year later on February 27, 2023. (JA at 600-11).

On March 28, 2022, a hearing was held on the pending motions and cross motions for summary judgment relating to the remaining topics that had been discussed secretly by Respondent in executive session. At this hearing, the trial court only heard the arguments of counsel and no testimony was presented. On April 28, 2023, the trial court entered its final order upholding the ongoing secrecy of Respondent when dealing with issues of great public importance. (JA at 612-28).

C. Petitioner’s multiple attempts to appeal these orders addressing the denial of extraordinary relief to this Court

Once the trial court issued its final orders granting summary judgment for Respondent and denying Petitioner’s cross-motion for summary judgment, Petitioner understood that the notice of appeal had to be filed with this Court and that, in fact, the WVICA had no jurisdiction. At the time the initial appeal was filed, Rule 1(b)(10)(first paragraph)³ of the West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure mandates that all appeals of “Extraordinary remedies and the appeal of any extraordinary remedy, including habeas corpus” must be filed with this Court and cannot be filed with the WVICA. On May 24, 2023, Petitioner filed a notice of appeal with this Court. (JA at 629). After making some technical corrections to the notice, on May 26, 2023, Petitioner again filed its appeal with this Court. (JA at 671).

On June 7, 2023, Petitioner received an email from this Court rejecting this appeal. (JA at 755). On that same date, the Clerk of the Court provided a Notice stating that somehow only the WVICA had jurisdiction in this case and gave Petitioner an additional ten days to file the notice of appeal. (JA at 756). On June 8, 2023, Petitioner filed the third notice of appeal in this case, but this

³Subsection (b) of Rule 1 defines the jurisdiction of the WVICA. The first paragraph identifies the cases where the WVICA has no jurisdiction while the second paragraph provides the appeals where the WVICA has jurisdiction. In this brief, to make it clear which section of Rule 1(b) is being cited, whether the citation is to the first or second paragraph will be noted.

time the notice was filed with the WVICA. (JA at 713). Also on June 8, 2023, Petitioner filed a motion, pursuant to Rule 29 of the West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure, seeking to have this Court, which is the only court with jurisdiction, to grant direct appeal. On September 7, 2023, this Court issued an order denying this motion for direct review. (JA at 757). Thus, Petitioner exhausted every legal avenue available to have this appeal resolved by this Court.⁴

IV. Summary of the argument

The governing body has the burden of proving whether or not the decision to go into executive session is justified based upon any of the exceptions.

The expansive scope of the commercial competition exception adopted by the WVICA is an extreme position unsupported by any case law that would consume, swallow, and vitiate the WVOGPA.

⁴The jurisdictional issues raised in this case prompted the Legislature in 2024 to enact W.Va.Code §51-11-4, amending and redefining, in part, appellate jurisdiction between this Court and the WVICA. However, instead of clarifying these issues, this statute only makes the distinctions between what appeals must be heard by this Court and the WVICA even more confusing. Under the statute, the WVICA has jurisdiction over appeals of all civil cases “where there is a request for legal or equitable relief.” Whether this new language was an attempt to have appeals of cases involving injunctive relief filed with the WVICA is not clear. The Court’s June 7, 2024 order states that the proposed amendment to Rule 1 provisionally was adopted, subject to the Court’s consideration of public comments. The amended version of Rule 1(b)(10)(first paragraph) provides that only this Court has jurisdiction over appeals involving “judgments or final orders issued in extraordinary remedy proceedings for a writ of prohibition, a writ of mandamus, a writ of quo warranto, a writ of certiorari, a writ of habeas corpus, a special receiver, an arrest in a civil case, or a personal safety order.” Is this list intended to be all inclusive so cases involving injunctive relief now are excluded from this Court’s jurisdiction? At the time this brief was written, although the proposed amendment to Rule 1 provisionally was adopted, counsel has not found any order where the Court formally adopted this amendment. Even if the Court has adopted this amendment permanently instead of provisionally, this amended rule still does not resolve the jurisdictional issue raised in this case. Furthermore, the appeal Petitioner filed initially in March, 2023, should be governed by the version of Rule 1 in effect at the time the appeal was filed.

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