**IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA**

Appeal No. 24-412

SCA EFiled: Dec 30 2024  
04:01PM EST  
Transaction ID 75339874

---

HD MEDIA COMPANY, LLC d/b/a CHARLESTON GAZETTE-MAIL,

*Petitioner,*

v.

WEST VIRGINIA UNIVERSITY BOARD OF GOVERNORS,

*Respondent.*

---

**BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**  
**WEST VIRGINIA UNIVERSITY BOARD OF GOVERNORS**

---

Appeal from the West Virginia Intermediate Court of Appeals

Natalie Atkinson (WV Bar #12030)  
Philip J. Combs (WV Bar # 6056)  
Bryant J. Spann (WV Bar # 8628)  
**THOMAS COMBS & SPANN, PLLC**  
P.O. Box 3824  
Charleston, WV 25338-3824

*Attorneys for Respondent West Virginia  
University Board of Governors*

## **

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

competition has been finalized, its protections fall away.” *HD Media*, 2024 WL 3007228, at \*7 (emphasis added).

The Board met its burden to demonstrate that it entered executive session to discuss specific deliberative matters involving commercial competition which would adversely affect the University’s interest if prematurely disclosed. This Court should adopt the reasoning of the ICA and uphold the lower court’s finding that the (b)(9) exception covers the Board’s consideration of preliminary, managerial deliberations over the COVID-19 pandemic (including preliminary discussions of budgets, athletics, tuition and fees, capital projects, and an emergency pay policy) and the social justice petition.

**C. The ICA Correctly Held that the Open Meetings Law Does Not Apply to Discussions of Internal, Deliberative Memoranda Exempt from WVFOIA.**

Subsection (b)(12) preserves the privacy of confidential government matters, including discussions protected by the attorney-client privilege, and the discussion of documents appropriately designated as confidential. W. Va. Code § 6-9A-4(b)(12). Petitioner’s assignment of error invites the Court to consider whether an “internal memorandum,” as defined by WVFOIA, is the type of confidential document which a governing body may enter executive session to discuss. The ICA held that it is. *HD Media*, 2024 WL 3007228, at 8–9. The Board relied on subsection (b)(12) as an independent reason to close the portions of its meetings; thus, even if the Court does not agree with the ICA’s interpretation of the “commercial competition” exemption, the Board will still prevail if subsection (b)(12) applies.

The (b)(12) exception applies to matters “rendered confidential” or “not considered a public record” within the meaning of the WVFOIA. JA 626–27. The WVOGPA recognizes that if a document is not suitable for public disclosure under the WVFOIA, a public body’s discussion of the same document should not occur in public. W. Va. Code § 6-9A-4(b)(12); *HD Media*, 2024

WL 3007228, at \*8–9. Upon a majority vote of all members present, a governing body may enter executive session to discuss a document not considered a “public record” under the WVFOIA. W. Va. Code § 6-9A-4(b)(12).

WVFOIA grants the public a right to inspect or copy any public record of a West Virginia public body. W. Va. Code § 29B-1-3-1(1). A “public record” includes “any writing containing information prepared or received by a public body, the content or context of which, judged either by content or context, relates to the public’s business.” W. Va. Code 29B-1-2(5). Certain documents are exempted from disclosure under WVFOIA, including “[i]nternal memoranda or letters received or prepared by any public body.” W. Va. Code § 29B-1-4(a)(8).

WVFOIA’s “internal memoranda exemption” “specifically exempts from disclosure only those written internal government communications consisting of advice, opinions and recommendations which reflect a public body’s deliberative, decision-making process; written advice, opinions and recommendations from one public body to another; and written advice, opinions and recommendations to a public body from outside consultants or experts obtained during the public body’s deliberative, decision-making process.” *Daily Gazette Co. v. West Virginia Dev. Office*, 198 W. Va. 563, 575, 482 S.E.2d 180, 192 (1996). The primary purpose of the exemption, also called the “deliberative process exemption,” is to encourage the free exchange of ideas and information within government agencies. *Id.* at 571; *see also United States Fish and Wildlife Serv. v. Sierra Club, Inc.*, 141 S. Ct. 777, 785 (2021) (“To encourage candor, which improves agency decisionmaking, the [deliberative process] privilege blunts the chilling effect that accompanies the prospect of disclosure.”).

The deliberative process exemption applies to all public bodies subject to WVFOIA, not just to administrative agency policy making. In *Highland Mining Co. v. West Virginia University*

*School of Medicine*, 235 W. Va. 370, 774 S.E.2d 36 (2015), the Court recognized public bodies are engaged in an immensely diverse range of endeavors related to government service and their internal deliberations will relate to a wide range of topics. The deliberative process exemption covers all these activities, so long as the documents are both pre-decisional and deliberative in the context in which they are prepared or considered. *Id.* at 385. “Pre-decisional” means the documents were “prepared in order to assist a public body decisionmaker in arriving at his or her decision,” *id.* at 383, while deliberative materials are those that “reflect[] the give-and-take of the consultative process, by revealing the manner in which the public body evaluates possible alternatives relevant to the decisional process.” *Id.*

The University’s administration may assert the internal memoranda exemption to deny a WVFOIA request for documents revealing its deliberative, decision-making process. *Id.* at 385. Further, the ICA has held that “where a document is exempt from disclosure pursuant to the internal memoranda exception as defined by West Virginia Code § 29B-1-4(a)(8), a public body’s direct discussion of such internal memoranda constitutes a confidential, nonpublic matter for the purposes of West Virginia Code § 6-9A-4(b)(12). *HD Media*, 2024 WL 3007228, \*9.

On June 19, 2020, the Board’s finance committee entered executive session to discuss an internal, deliberative memorandum provided in advance of the meeting by Vice President Alsop and others. JA 369; *see also* JA 616, Circuit Court Order II at 5. This internal, deliberative memorandum covered information relating to the capital projects, including the business school and budgetary analysis relating to the COVID-19 pandemic, including discussions regarding tuition and fees, enrollment and retention strategies, and the emergency pay policy. JA 369, 372; *see also* JA 616–18, Circuit Court Order II at 5–6.

Petitioner does not dispute that the memorandum was both pre-decisional and deliberative. JA 626–27 (Circuit Court Order II). The memorandum advised the committee on various matters where the University’s administration was contemplating a decision but had not yet taken action, *see* Syl. Pt. 5, *Highland Mining*, 235 W. Va. at 376, and described the administration’s proposed course of action as well as alternative options for resolution. *See* JA 369. Because the memorandum was decisional, deliberative, and not subject to disclosure under the WVFOIA, the Board’s committee appropriately entered executive session to discuss it. W. Va. Code § 6-9A-4(b)(12); JA 626–27 (Circuit Court Order II); *HD Media*, 2024 WL 3007228, at (8–9).

The (b)(12) exception harmonizes the open government law and the WVFOIA, thereby preserving the protections extended to public documents. *HD Media*, 2024 WL 3007228, at \*9. The ICA “note[d] that the primary objective of an open and efficient government is at the core of both statutes, demonstrating that the two statutes should be read consistently with one another, rather than in conflict.” *Id.* The Court should bear in mind that the University’s pre-decisional, deliberative memorandum concerned day-to-day managerial decisions delegated to the administration by the Board, and there is no legal requirement that the administration discuss its decisions publicly. *See* W. Va. Bd. of Governors Finance and Admin. R. 5.1. The University’s practice of briefing the Board on pre-decisional, deliberative matters fosters better decision-making by the administration on many issues that are not subject to Board approval.

The Court should find there is no factual dispute on the applicability of the internal memoranda exemption and uphold the lower court’s finding that a governing body’s discussion of internal memoranda may occur in closed session.

**D. Attorney-Client Privileged Discussions are Not Subject to the WVOGPA's Rule Requiring Open Meetings.**

Petitioner is simply incorrect when it claims that “[t]he WVOGPA does not specifically include an exception based upon the attorney-client privilege.” Pet. Br. 26. The WVOGPA excepts privileged discussions from the open meetings rule. W. Va. Code § 6-9A-4(b)(12); *see HD Media*, 2024 WL 3007228, at \*10–12; *Peters*, 519 S.E.2d at 181. The lower court followed the proper procedure in determining whether the Board was justified in relying on this exception.

West Virginia law recognizes an attorney-client privilege where (1) both parties contemplate that an attorney-client relationship exists, (2) the client is seeking advice from the attorney in her capacity as a legal advisor, and (3) the communication between attorney and client is intended to be confidential. *State ex rel. United Hosp. Ctr., Inc. v. Bedell*, 484 S.E.2d 199, 209 (W. Va. 1997) (citation omitted). A governing body may not close a meeting “merely because an agency attorney is a participant.” *See* W. Va. Code § 6-9A-4(b)(11).

There is no question that the Board’s communication with its general counsel was privileged. *First*, an existing attorney-client relationship exists between the Board and the University’s general counsel. JA 372–73; 520–21. *Second*, the Board sought legal advice from its attorney concerning the content of the updated Title IX regulations and counsel’s recommendations for implementing the regulations at the University. JA 372–73; 520–21. This was not a simple recitation of the law. *See HD Media*, 2024 WL 3007228, at \*17 (Scarr, J. dissenting) (finding the attorney-client communication at issue here involved more than a mere recitation of regulatory changes). *Third*, the Board’s discussions with its attorney were intended to remain confidential, as evidenced by the fact that the discussion took place in executive session. *See* JA 520–23; JA 654 (Circuit Court Order II at IV.B.). The Board’s decision to close a portion

of its meeting to receive regulatory updates and legal counsel from Ms. Taylor fits squarely within the WVOGPA's exemption.

This Court's decision in *Peters* directs:

When a public body closes an open meeting on the basis that the matters to be discussed in that meeting are exempt from the Act as a result of the attorney-client privilege and that claim is challenged, the circuit court should review *in camera* whether the communications do indeed fall within that privilege.

205 W. Va. 481, 489–90, 519 S.E.2d 179, 187–88. The Board became aware that Petitioner challenged its assertion of privilege when Petitioner filed its second summary judgment response. *See* JA 472–74. The Board responded by submitting the testimony of the University's general counsel, Stephanie Taylor, for *in camera* review by the circuit court. JA 507–11; JA 520–23. Vice President Alsop also submitted an affidavit speaking to the privileged nature of Ms. Taylor's discussion. JA 517–18. The circuit court reviewed the materials submitted for review *in camera* before upholding the Board's claim of privilege and ruling against Petitioner. JA 507–11; JA 520–23.

The circuit court committed no procedural misstep in reviewing Ms. Taylor's privileged communication. Despite Petitioner's assertion to the contrary, *Peters* does not require in-person testimony. *HD Media*, 2024 WL 3007228, at \*11. “[S]worn affidavits are acceptable as testimonial evidence, within the discretion of the trial court.” *Id.* (citing W. Va. R. Civ. P. 43, 56). As was also true before the ICA, Petitioner “fails to cite authority indicating that, under *Peters*, affidavits are insufficient to establish a factual basis for the assertion of the attorney-client privilege.” *Id.*; *see generally* Pet. Br. 27–30.

The circuit court followed *Peters* in reviewing the substance of Ms. Taylor's communications and ruling that the Board did not violate the WVOGPA. This Court should reject Petitioner's challenge to the Board's claim of attorney-client privilege.

**E. The Circuit Court Did Not Abuse its Discretion by Not Awarding Fees.**

Of all its allegations lodged below, HD Media has found marginal success in only one—its contention that the Board’s June 19, 2020 meeting agenda was deficient. *See* W. Va. Code § 6-9A-3 (directing governing bodies to make meeting agendas available in advance to the public). The circuit court made a factual finding that the Board’s failure to provide sufficient notice of topics to be discussed during the closed meeting was merely a “technical” violation of the WVOGPA. JA 741–42. After noting that the Board acted in good faith and was “substantially justified” in its actions, the circuit court declined to award fees. JA 623. The ICA did not disturb this ruling. *HD Media*, 2024 WL 3007228, at \*12–13.

Even if the Board’s meeting agenda was deficient (the Board does not concede that it was), the circuit court’s decision not to award fees is entitled to deference. *See* W. Va. Code § 6-9A-7(b) (“A public agency whose governing body is adjudged in a civil action to have conducted a meeting in violation of the provisions of this article *may* be liable to a prevailing party for fees and other expenses . . .”) (emphasis added); *Capriotti v. Jefferson Cty. Planning Comm.*, No. 13-1243, 2015 WL 869318, at \*8 (W. Va. Feb. 26, 2015) (memorandum decision) (“The remedies provided in [the WVOGPA] are left to the discretion of the circuit court.”). Fees are inappropriate where, as here, the governing body’s actions are substantially justified, and Petitioner has failed to demonstrate how the lower court abused its discretion in making that finding. *See Capriotti*, 2015 WL 869318 at \*9; *see also HD Media*, 2024 WL 3007228, at \*13 (finding no abuse of discretion in the circuit court’s decision). Furthermore, because the decision to award fees rests with the lower court, it would be inappropriate for this Court to provide this remedy. *See Capriotti*, 2015 WL 869318, at \*9 (remanding “to determine the remedy, *if any*, the circuit court may deem appropriate”).

Finally, it is the Board, not Petitioner, who is entitled to an award of fees. If a court, “upon denying the relief sought by the complaining person in the action, finds that the action was frivolous or commenced with the primary intent of harassing the governing body,” that court “may require the complaining person to pay the governing body’s necessary attorney fees and expenses.” W. Va. Code § 6-9A-7(c). The Board has substantially prevailed on each of Petitioner’s claims in the lower court and on appeal. With respect to the one minor issue where Petitioner was successful (the alleged notice violation), Petitioner was denied relief. Petitioner has raised and continues to raise frivolous arguments, such as asking the Court to find that an affidavit is not “testimony” or to overturn the lower court’s factual findings on an undisputed factual record. At this point, Petitioner’s continued pursuit of its claims—particularly where there is no public action to overturn—is harassing and frivolous. If the Court upholds the decision of the ICA, it should remand the case for an award of attorney fees in favor of the Board.

**F. Petitioner’s Challenge to the ICA’s Jurisdiction is a Request for an Advisory Opinion and Has Been Waived.**

As its final assignment of error, Petitioner claims the ICA “had no jurisdiction in this case” because this suit involved a request for injunctive relief. Pet. Br. 7. This Court previously denied Petitioner’s motion for direct review without discussion. Petitioner now asks the Court for “an explanation . . . providing the rationale for permitting the [ICA] to have jurisdiction over an appeal involving extraordinary remedies.” *Id.* at 38. Petitioner essentially requests an advisory opinion which this Court typically refuses to render. *Id.* at 37–38; *see State ex. rel. v. Perdue v. McCuskey*, 836 S.E.2d 441, 445 (W. Va. 2019).

It is curious that Petitioner did not raise its jurisdictional argument before the ICA. Whatever Petitioner’s reasoning for doing so, the Court should decline to address this argument for the additional reason that it has been waived. *See Tudor’s Biscuit World of America v.*

*Critchley*, 729 S.E.2d 231, 237 n.7 (W. Va. 2012) (assignments of error not briefed in the lower court are waived).

## **VI. CONCLUSION**

For these reasons, the Court should find the Board committed no violation of West Virginia law by closing portions of its meetings between June and September 2020, decline to award fees, affirm the judgment of the ICA, and dismiss Petitioner's appeal.